RECEIVED

07-19-2017

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP2506-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL J. H. BARTELT,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Washington County Circuit Court, the Honorable Todd K. Martens Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. After confessing to an attempted homicide or other serious crime, would a reasonable person feel free to terminate a police interview and leave an interrogation room, such that the person is not in custody for *Miranda*¹ purposes?

The circuit court found that Daniel Bartelt was not in custody after he confessed at a police station to attacking a woman with a knife. The court therefore concluded that Bartelt's subsequent request for an attorney did not invoke the *Miranda-Edwards*² rule requiring all custodial interrogations to cease. Instead, the court held that Bartelt was not in custody until he was formally placed under arrest, which occurred a short time after he requested an attorney.

On that basis, the circuit court denied Bartelt's motion to suppress statements about a separate, unrelated homicide that Bartelt made during a second police interview the next day. The court similarly denied his motion to suppress the derivative evidence that police discovered as a result of those statements. That derivative evidence comprised the core of the State's homicide prosecution in this case.

On appeal, the court of appeals affirmed in a published opinion. The court concluded that Bartelt was not in custody following his confession because police did not change the circumstances or atmosphere of the interrogation after Bartelt made his incriminating admissions.

¹ See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

² See Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981).

2. Following his confession to attacking a woman with a knife, did Bartelt clearly and unequivocally invoke his right to counsel?

Following his confession, Bartelt asked one of the detectives, "Should I or can I speak to a lawyer or anything," and the detective responded, "Sure, yes. That is your option." Bartelt then stated, "Okay. I think I'd prefer that."

The circuit court did not address this issue. The court of appeals assumed, without deciding, that Bartelt had made an unequivocal request for counsel, concluding that its decision that he was not in custody at the time he asked for an attorney rendered this issue moot.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed both oral argument and publication appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Allegations of the criminal complaints.

The State charged Daniel Bartelt in an amended criminal complaint with the following offenses related to an assault on M.R.: (1) attempted first-degree intentional homicide; (2) first-degree recklessly endangering safety; and (3) attempted false imprisonment. The amended complaint also charged Bartelt with first-degree intentional homicide for the murder of Jessie Blodgett. (4:1-2).

With regard to the assault on M.R., the complaint alleged that, on morning of July 12, 2013, M.R. went to the

Richfield Historical Park in the Village of Richfield to walk her dog. (4:2). There, she was attacked by a male suspect with a knife who tackled her to the ground. (4:3). During the ensuing struggle, M.R. sustained multiple injuries; however, she was able to grab ahold of the blade end of the knife and disarm the suspect. (4:3). The suspect then fled the scene in his van. (4:3).

The complaint also alleged that, on July 16, 2013, police interviewed Bartelt about this incident, and he confessed to attacking M.R. (4:6-7).

With respect to the Blodgett homicide charge, the complaint alleged that Blodgett was found dead in her home in the City of Hartford on July 15, 2013. (4:4-5). According to preliminary autopsy findings, the cause of death was ligature strangulation. (4:5-6).

The complaint further alleged that police interviewed Bartelt for a second time on July 17, 2013, this time regarding Blodgett's death. (4:8). During the interview, Bartelt denied any involvement in her death. He told police he was at Woodlawn Union Park in City of Hartford on July 15, 2013. (4:8).

Thereafter, police searched the garbage receptacles at Woodlawn Union Park and discovered physical evidence that was connected to Blodgett's murder, which contained both her and Bartelt's DNA. (4:9-12).

B. Bartelt's suppression motion and evidence at the suppression hearing.

Bartelt filed a motion to suppress all his statements to law enforcement, as well as the derivative evidence police obtained as a result of those statements. (19). On April 18, 2014, the circuit court, the Honorable Todd K. Martens, conducted a *Miranda-Goodchild*³ hearing. The State called two witnesses: Detective Joel Clausing of the Washington County Sheriff's Department and Detective Richard Thickens of the Hartford Police Department.

Clausing testified that, as of July 16, 2013, he had identified Bartelt as a person of interest in the attack on M.R. (105:12). He explained that M.R. had stated her attacker was in a blue Dodge Caravan. (105:41). Another deputy had seen a blue Dodge Caravan at the same park early that month and had run the license plate, which revealed that the car was registered to Bartelt's parents. (105:41-42). Clausing discovered that the Bartelts had a son, and a photo of him from the Wisconsin Department of Transportation was similar to a composite sketch that was drawn at M.R.'s direction. (105:41-42).

Clausing spoke with the Bartelts at their home, and they gave him Bartelt's cell phone number. (105:12). Clausing then called Bartelt around 5:00 p.m. on July 16, 2013 and told him he was investigating an incident and that he "needed to meet with him." (105:13). Clausing stated that Bartelt was very compliant during the call and asked when and where they should meet. (105:14). Clausing told Bartelt to come to the Slinger Police Department. (105:14).

Clausing explained that the Slinger Police Department is located inside a municipal building that it shares with other offices such as Parks and Planning. (105:16). There is one main entrance for the building and, once inside, there is a specific door for the police department, neither of which are secured during normal business hours. (105:16-17). After

³ See State ex rel. Goodchild v. Burke, 27 Wis. 2d 244, 133 N.W.2d 753 (1965).

one enters the door to the police department, there is a lobby and then another door that leads to the "internal portion of the police department." (105:16). This door is secured for purposes of entering; however, people can freely exit it. (105:16-17).

After Bartelt arrived at the Slinger Police Department around 5:12 p.m., he was escorted back to an interview room with Clausing and Detective Aaron Walsh. (105:16). The interview room was in the secured, internal portion of the department. (105:16). According to Clausing, the interview room was twenty to twenty-five feet beyond the secured door. (105:18).

Clausing further testified that the interview room had two doors, neither of which could be locked. (105:18). One of the doors was left slightly open during the interview. (105:23). Clausing also stated that the interview room was thirteen-and-a-half feet by ten-and-a-half feet in size and had a table and three chairs inside. (105:18-19). In addition, he stated that there were no metal detectors at the Slinger Police Department, and he did not search or frisk Bartelt before entering the interview room. (105:20).

Clausing stated that he and Walsh were wearing casual clothes; however, they both had their badges displayed on their belts, as well as their service weapons. (105:20-21). The interview was recorded by audio and video means, but Bartelt was never informed that the interview was being recorded. (105:19, 45; *see also* 28, Ex. 1).

Clausing testified that, at the beginning of the interview, he told Bartelt he was not in trouble and that he was not under arrest. (105:24). He also informed Bartelt that he could get up and walk out or leave at any point. (105:24). However, he did not read Bartelt his *Miranda* rights.

(105:44). Clausing stated that he and Walsh used a "conversational tone" throughout the entire interview. (105:31-32).

During preliminary questioning, Bartelt told the detectives that he was nineteen years old and worked at a factory in Hustisford called Rolair Associated Engineering. (105:26-27). Clausing told Bartelt that he and Walsh were investigating an incident at a park that occurred the previous Friday. (31:7). As the interview continued, Clausing asked Bartelt a number of questions about the Richfield Park incident. (105:27). At first, Bartelt denied any involvement, stating he was off work that day and was at his girlfriend's house. (31:7-14; 105:27-28).

During the interview, Clausing and Walsh noticed an injury on Bartelt's hand, which Bartelt said happened at work. (31:11-12). As the interview progressed, the detectives explained about evidence and asked Bartelt if there was any evidence or "something [he] left there" that might show he was at the park last Friday. (31:12-13). Bartelt said there was nothing, and Clausing asked, "[w]hat if I were to tell you that there might be something that links you there." (31:13-14).

Clausing then explained Locard's exchange principle: the concept that a person leaves something of himself behind, such as fingerprints, DNA, or clothing fibers, everywhere he goes. (31:15-16). Clausing also told Bartelt they had "evidence from the person that was out there" that needed to be analyzed by the crime laboratory. (31:17). He therefore urged Bartelt to be honest with them. (31:18).

Walsh further explained that police knew Bartelt's vehicle was at the park on Friday, as well as other days that Bartelt was supposed to be at work. (31:19). Upon further

questioning, Bartelt admitted that he had not worked at Rolair since March or April 2013 and had not injured his hand at work. (31:19-20). Instead, he said he had cut his hand while cooking at home. (31:20). Clausing explained that after Bartelt was caught in this lie, he "moved [his] chair closer to [Bartelt] and got the table out of [their] way." (105:23; *see also* 28 Ex. 1 at 05:26:30 to 05:26:50). At that point, Clausing was sitting about two feet away from Bartelt. (105:24).

Clausing told Bartelt that "[n]obody in their right mind would lie about cutting themselves if it happened at home cooking." (31:21). He again urged Bartelt to "[j]ust be honest." (31:21). He told Bartelt he understood his first instinct was "self-preservation," but that he believed in second chances for people who take responsibility. (31:24-25). Clausing also stated, "[i]t's okay . . . we know what happened." (31:26). He later added, "you had to know that this would be coming. I mean, you cut yourself. Right? There is blood on the sheet [sic] that you tried to throw away," and Walsh added, and "on the beer can" and "on the knife she took away." (31:27).

Shortly thereafter, Bartelt admitted that he had, in fact, been at the Richfield Park on July 12, 2013 and that he had attacked M.R. (31:28-32; 105:27-28, 44). He stated that he "went after that girl" and "knocked her down." (31:29-32). He also admitted he had a knife in his hand when he did so. (31:32).

Clausing testified that after this confession, Bartelt "was going to be under arrest, and he probably wasn't free to get up and leave." (105:44-45, 48-49). Following the confession, Clausing then asked Bartelt to provide a written statement about the incident. (105:28). At that point,

however, Bartelt asked if he could speak to a lawyer, and Clausing told him this was his choice. Clausing testified that Bartelt then stated "he would prefer having one present." (105:28, 45-46). The video of the interview reflects that the following exchange took place in this respect:

Mr. Bartelt: Should I or can I speak to a lawyer or anything?

Det. Clausing: Sure, yes. That is your option.

Mr. Bartelt: Okay. I think I'd prefer that.

Det. Clausing: All right.

(28, Ex. 1 at 05:44:38 to 05:44:55; 129).

Thereafter, at 5:45 p.m., Clausing and Walsh suspended the interview and left the room. (105:29). Before doing so, however, Clausing took custody of Bartelt's cell phone. (28 Ex. 1 at 05:45:48 to 05:46:45; 31:39-40; 105:31). Walsh also told him to stay in the interview room. (31:40-41). When the detectives returned seven or eight minutes later around 5:53 p.m., Clausing told Bartelt he was under arrest, handcuffed him, and searched him. (105:29-30).

The next witness called by the State was Detective Thickens. Thickens explained that he was lead investigator for the Blodgett murder. (105:58). He also stated that he identified Bartelt as a person of interest in his investigation following Bartelt's interview with Clausing and Walsh. (105:58).

Thickens testified that he and Detective James Wolf met with Bartelt in an interview room at the Washington County Sheriff's Department on the afternoon of July 17, 2013. (105:59-60). At this point, Bartelt was an inmate at the

Washington County Jail. (105:60). This interview was recorded by audio and video means, as well. (105:60-61; *see also* 28, Ex. 2).

Thickens testified that, before meeting with Bartelt, he knew Bartelt had been in the Washington County Jail for almost twenty-four hours. (105:73). He also knew about Bartelt's interview on July 16, 2013, as well as the fact that the interview ended when Bartelt "asked for an attorney." (105:74, 79).

Before beginning the interview, Thickens read Bartelt his *Miranda* rights, and Bartelt signed a waiver form and agreed to speak with the detectives. (105:63-65; *see also* 28, Ex. 3). Thereafter, Bartelt answered questions for approximately ninety minutes about his relationship with Blodgett and his whereabouts on July 15, 2013. (105:65, 68-69). During the interview, Bartelt denied being at Blodgett's house on July 15, 2013 or having any involvement with her death. (32:7, 42-49). He stated that, on the morning of July 15, 2013, he left his house around 6:30 a.m. and then drove all over, eventually ending up at Woodlawn Union Park. (32:42). The interview ended later when Bartelt asked for an attorney. (105:66, 78).

After the interview, Thickens went to Woodlawn Union Park to investigate and collected all the garbage in the park's receptacles. (109:852-53). Amongst the garbage, Thickens found a Frosted Mini-Wheats cereal box containing paper toweling, numerous types of rope and tape, and antiseptic wipes and wrappers with red stains. (109:862-71). In addition to the items in the cereal box, Thickens found more antiseptic wipes and wrappers with red stains in the garbage, as well as bandage packaging. (109:872-74, 953-54).

Evidence later presented at trial showed that several of the items found in the park's garbage contained Bartelt's DNA and Blodgett's DNA. (109:1045-59, 1072). It also showed that one of the ropes was consistent with the abrasion pattern around Blodgett's neck, and another rope was consistent with the injuries on her wrists and ankles. (114:73-77).

C. The circuit court's ruling on Bartelt's suppression motion.

The circuit court denied Bartelt's motion to suppress. The court found that Bartelt was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes during the July 16, 2013 interview, but had voluntarily agreed to speak with police. In this respect, the court concluded that Bartelt was not in custody until after he requested an attorney, when police told him he was under arrest and placed him in handcuffs at the conclusion of the interview. (105:97-103, 110-11; App. 129-35, 142-43). Accordingly, the court held that no *Miranda* warnings were required with respect to the July 16, 2013 interview. (105:96-97, 100; App. 128-29, 132). As support for this conclusion, the court relied on *State v. Lonkoski*, 2013 WI 30, ¶ 7, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552, in which this Court held that the requirements of *Miranda* do not "apply when custody is "imminent." (105:100; App. 132).

The circuit court therefore ruled that Bartelt's request for an attorney did not prohibit police from initiating the July 17, 2013 interview because, according to the circuit court, "an assertion of *Miranda*... which a person makes while they are not in custody, does not prospectively prohibit law enforcement from attempting to interview an individual later." (105:102; App. 134).

With respect to the July 17, 2013 interview, the circuit court found that, although Bartelt was in custody, he was properly *Mirandized* at the outset, voluntarily waived his rights, and agreed to speak with the detectives. (105:101-02; App. 133-34). In addition, the court concluded that all the statements that Bartelt had made during both interviews were "the voluntary product of his free and constrained [sic] will, the statements reflect[ed] deliberateness of choice[, and] were not coerced and not a product of improper police pressures." (105:105-08; App. 137-40). The court therefore denied Bartelt's suppression motion in its entirety.

D. Convictions and sentencing.

Prior to the commencement of trial, the circuit court ordered the Blodgett homicide charge severed from the charges related to the Richfield Park incident. (103:20-45). The homicide charge was then tried to a jury over a seven-day period beginning on August 11, 2014. (*See generally* 109; 114). Following the close of evidence, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. (109:1259-61).

Thereafter, on October 14, 2014, the circuit court sentenced Bartelt to life imprisonment without the possibility of release to extended supervision. (115:70-71).

Shortly thereafter, on October 17, 2014, the parties reached a plea agreement regarding the Richfield Park charges. In exchange for Bartelt's plea to first-degree recklessly endangering safety, the State agreed to dismiss and read in the remaining counts and recommend a consecutive prison sentence with no more than five years of initial confinement. (116:3, 5-6). Thereafter, on October 30, 2014, the circuit court sentenced Bartelt to five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision, consecutive to his life sentence. (117:22).

E. The court of appeals' decision.

On appeal, Bartelt argued that once he confessed to attacking M.R., a reasonable person in his circumstances would not have felt free to terminate the interview and leave the police station. In other words, Bartelt argued that his confession transformed the interview into a custodial interrogation. (Bartelt's Ct. App. Initial Br. at 18-28).

Bartelt further asserted that, because he was in custody at the time he requested an attorney, all further interrogation had to cease. Thus, on the following day, when the detectives from the Hartford Police Department approached Bartelt to question him about Blodgett's murder without counsel present, they violated his Fifth Amendment rights. (*Id.* at 28-29).

Bartelt therefore argued that all his statements during the second interview on July 17, 2013 and all derivative evidence discovered as a result of those statements should have been suppressed. (*Id.* at 29-33).

The court of appeals rejected this claim and affirmed the judgment of the circuit court. The court first concluded that the circumstances of Bartelt's initial interrogation on July 16, 2013 showed that he was not in custody. Among other things, the court noted that Bartelt had voluntarily agreed to come to the police station and, once he arrived, police told him he was "not under arrest" and was free to leave at any time. (Ct. App. Op. at 14; App. 114). The detectives did not search or frisk Bartelt, and they did not restrain him in any way. (*Id.*; App. 114). The doors to the interview room were unlocked and left slightly ajar. (*Id.*; App. 114). Also, when Bartelt's phone rang during the interview, he was permitted to answer it. (*Id.*; App. 114).

The court acknowledged that, as the interviewed progressed, the detectives increasingly treated Bartelt like the target of a serious felony investigation and they certainly applied psychological pressure to get him to confess. (*Id.* at 15; App. 115). However, the court found that the other circumstances of the interview did not suggest that Bartelt could not have terminated the interview and left at any time. (*Id.* at 16; App. 116).

The court of appeals also concluded that Bartelt's confession, when considered together with all the other circumstances, did not render him in custody because his confession did not cause police to change the circumstances or atmosphere of the interrogation. (*Id.* at 17; App. 117). Therefore, he was not in custody, according to the court of appeals, because "*Miranda* is concerned 'with the type of interrogation environment *created* by the police." (*Id.* at 21-25; App. 121-25) (quoting *State v. Clappes*, 117 Wis. 2d 277, 283, 344 N.W.2d 141 (1984) (emphasis added by the court of appeals)).

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