# **RECEIVED**

# In the Supreme Court of Wiscowsconsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

DANIEL J. H. BARTELT, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On Appeal From The Washington County Circuit Court, The Honorable Todd K. Martens, Presiding, Case No. 2013CF276

#### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

RYAN J. WALSH Chief Deputy Solicitor General

AMY C. MILLER Assistant Solicitor General *Counsel of Record* 

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 millerac@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-8938

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Bartelt was not in custody when he made comments about an attorney, and therefore *Miranda-Edwards* does not apply.

The Supreme Court's landmark decision in *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), requires law enforcement to inform suspects subjected to custodial interrogation of their rights to remain silent and to an attorney, and requires law enforcement to honor those rights. If a suspect in custody and under interrogation invokes his right to counsel, "the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present." *Id.* at 474; accord Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 482 (1981). The Miranda-Edwards rule also prohibits police from engaging in subsequent, uncounseled interrogations regarding separate investigations. Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675 (1988).

*Miranda-Edwards* applies only when a suspect is in custody. To determine custody, courts undertake a two-step totality considering of the inquiry, the objective circumstances. First, courts determine whether a reasonable person in the suspect's situation would have felt free to leave. If not, then courts determine "whether the relevant environment presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." Howes, 565 U.S. at 509. Only an environment so inherently coercive that it carries its own badge of intimidation and, inand-of itself, undermines the voluntariness of any statement made by an interrogee can be considered "custodial" under *Miranda*. This inquiry must also focus only on the objective conditions created by law enforcement, and not on the subjective beliefs of either the suspect or police.

Bartelt argues for a new legal test for custody, but his argument ignores entirely the second half of the custody inquiry and focuses on the subjective, in contravention of this Court's caselaw, *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶¶ 34–35, and is for both reasons legally erroneous.

Applying the correct law of custody to the facts of this case, Bartelt was not in custody when he made comments

about an attorney during his July 16 interview. Bartelt came to the police department voluntarily and was not restrained, the doors were left unlocked and one ajar, Clausing told Bartelt that he was free to leave, Bartelt could use his cell phone, and the two detectives who interviewed Bartelt used a calm, conversational tone throughout the approximately 30minute interview. Bartelt himself concedes that the interview was not custodial, at least initially. Even after Bartelt made admissions about the attack in the park, the interview continued to be calm and conversational, the door remained open and Bartelt unrestrained, and the detectives did not indicate in any way that Bartelt was no longer free to leave. Thus, the interview remained non-custodial.

Bartelt's claims that the atmosphere of the interview changed after his admissions are unavailing. Even if Bartelt was objectively no longer free to leave after his admissions, he has failed to explain how his admissions altered the interview to the point that it "present[ed] the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*," *Howes*, 565 U.S. at 509, and has therefore failed to show that his admissions placed him in custody.

II. In the alternative, Bartelt's comments about an attorney did not constitute an unequivocal request for counsel, and thus the police were not prohibited from continuing to question him without counsel.

Even if this Court holds that Bartelt's admissions placed him in custody, his comments about an attorney were not specific enough to invoke his right to counsel under *Miranda*. In order to invoke the right to counsel, a suspect must "unambiguously request counsel" in a "sufficiently clear[]" way so that "a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney." *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 459 (1994). If the statement indicates "only that the suspect *might*" be requesting counsel, then the statement is ambiguous and cannot be an invocation of the right to counsel. *State v. Edler*, 2013 WI 73, ¶ 34, 350 Wis. 2d 1, 833 N.W.2d 564 (quoting *Davis*, 512 U.S. at 459). This Court and courts around the country have held that both questions regarding an attorney and hedging statements about an attorney are ambiguous.

Here, Bartelt asked Clausing, "Should I or can I speak to a lawyer or anything?" These are precisely the kind of questions that courts have found ambiguous. Asking "should I speak to a lawyer" seeks advice from the police, and "can I speak to a lawyer" seeks clarification of one's rights. Especially as these two questions were asked as one, a reasonable police officer would not have understood these questions to be an unambiguous request for counsel. After Clausing told him it was his option to speak to a lawyer, Bartelt said, "I think I'd prefer that." This Court has held that nearly identical hedging statements are not unequivocal requests for counsel. *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶¶ 33, 36, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142. And this is entirely correct, as a reasonable officer hearing this kind of statement about a probable preference would understand only that the suspect might be requesting counsel.

Bartelt fails to address many of the cases holding that similar comments are ambiguous, and claims that his ambiguous questions somehow cured the ambiguity in his subsequent ambiguous statement. But, as other courts have held, even when combined with ambiguous questions, hedging statements like Bartelt's are still ambiguous.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. Bartelt's Comments About An Attorney Did Not Invoke The Protections Of *Miranda-Edwards* Because Bartelt Was Not In Custody

The protections of *Miranda-Edwards* apply only when law enforcement has placed a suspect in custody. *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 5. To determine custody, courts engage in a two-part inquiry, taking into account the totality of the circumstances and determining (1) whether the police restrained the suspect's freedom of movement, and, if so, (2) whether the situation was of the inherently coercive kind that *Miranda* was concerned with. *Howes*, 565 U.S. at 509. In this analysis, courts look only to the objective circumstances of the environment, as created by law enforcement. *See State v. Clappes*, 117 Wis. 2d 277, 285, 344 N.W.2d 141 (1984). Bartelt's request for a new rule is erroneous because it ignores the second half of this inquiry and because it focuses on the subjective states of mind of both the suspect and police. Applying the correct law of custody to the facts of this case, Bartelt was not in custody until after he made comments about an attorney. Bartelt's arguments that, once he made admissions, the atmosphere of the interview changed so drastically as to render him in custody are unavailing.

# A. Custody Turns On Whether The Police Have Objectively Restrained The Suspect Under Inherently Coercive Circumstances

1. In *Miranda*, the United States Supreme Court held that any person in custody and under interrogation is entitled to warnings about their rights to remain silent and to have counsel present, and that any statement not preceded by those warnings is inadmissible. See 384 U.S. at 444, 476. The Court required warnings out of concern for the effect of "incommunicado" police interrogations on the interrogee's constitutional right not to be "compelled . . . to be a witness against himself," U.S. Const. amend. V.<sup>5</sup> See Miranda, 384 U.S. at 445-59. Thus, the Court decided that procedural safeguards must be employed in "police custodial questioning" to protect the "privilege against self-incrimination." Id. at 458. The Court also held that, if an interrogee in custody requests counsel, "the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present." Id. at 474. In Edwards, the Court clarified that police may not "reinterrogate" the individual "if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This Court generally interprets Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution consistently with the Fifth Amendment. *State v. Ward*, 2009 WI 60, ¶ 18 n.3, 318 Wis. 2d 301, 767 N.W.2d 236.

he has clearly asserted his right to counsel," unless the individual voluntarily reinitiates the conversation. *Edwards*, 451 U.S. at 485. This is true even if the later interrogation is part of a separate investigation. *Roberson*, 486 U.S. 675.

Importantly, the protections of *Miranda* and *Edwards* do not apply unless the individual is "in custody." It is the "inherently compelling" nature of in-custody interrogations that necessitates "the accused [] be . . . apprised of his rights and the exercise of those rights [] be fully honored," *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 467—thus custody is a necessary precondition to *Miranda-Edwards, see State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 344–45, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999). If an individual is not in custody, the police are not required to honor his request for counsel, *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 5, and he cannot invoke his rights under *Miranda* anticipatorily, before he is taken into custody, *McNeil v. Wisconsin*, 501 U.S. 171, 182 n.3 (1991); see also Lonkoski, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 24.

To determine custody under *Miranda*, courts apply a two-part test. "The test to determine custody is an objective one," taking into account the totality of the circumstances. *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 532, ¶¶ 27–28. "[T]he initial step is to ascertain whether, in light of the objective circumstances of the interrogation, a reasonable person would have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave." *Howes*, 565 U.S. at 509 (citations omitted). In determining how a reasonable person would have "gauged his freedom of movement," *id*. (citation omitted), this Court looks to several factors, including "the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation," "whether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk is performed, the manner in which the suspect is restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved." *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 28 (citation omitted).

If a court determines that a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave, the court must then move to the second part of the custody analysis: determining whether the atmosphere was so inherently coercive that Miranda protections were necessary. Assessing the person's "freedom of movement . . . is simply the first step in the analysis, not the last," as "restraint[] on freedom of movement" is "a necessary [but] not a sufficient condition for Miranda Howes, 565 U.S. at 509 (citation omitted). custody." Α reviewing court must answer "the additional question [of] whether the relevant environment presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in Miranda," id., such as where the "interrogation [is] frequently [] prolonged, and ... the detainee often is aware that questioning will continue until he provides his interrogators the answers they seek," or where "an unscrupulous policeman [could] use illegitimate means to elicit self-incriminating statements," or where the suspect "fear[s] that, if he does not cooperate, he will be subjected to abuse," Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 438 (1984).

The familiar example of a traffic stop illustrates the proper application of the custody standard. It is "nothing short of sophistic to state" that a motorist "would feel free . . . to leave the scene of a traffic stop." *Berkemer*, 468 U.S. at 436 & n.25 (citation omitted). But the Supreme Court has held that these everyday encounters are not custodial. Id. at 435-40. That is because, in the circumstances of an average traffic stop, "the danger that a person questioned will be induced to speak where he would not otherwise do so freely" does not rise to a level necessitating the protections of *Miranda*, as a traffic stop does not present "pressures that sufficiently impair his free exercise of his privilege against self-incrimination to require that he be warned of his constitutional rights." Id. at 437 (citation omitted). Accordingly, the "temporary and relatively nonthreatening detention involved in a traffic stop Terry stop does not constitute Miranda custody." or Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 113 (2010) (citation omitted). Indeed, even "imprisonment alone is not enough to create a custodial situation within the meaning of *Miranda*." *Howes*, 565 U.S. at 511.

Hence the "ultimate inquiry [as to custody] is [] whether there was a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest," *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 6 (quoting *Stansbury v. California*, 511 U.S. 318, 322 (1994) (per curiam)), and whether the "environment presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at

issue in Miranda." Howes, 565 U.S. at 509. However, *Miranda* is not implicated "simply because the questioning" takes place in the station house," or because the "police officer is part of a law enforcement system which may ultimately cause the suspect to be charged with a crime." Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495 (1977). Instead, formal arrest and similar situations involve a "detention [that] represents a sharp and ominous change" from an individual's normal life, "and the shock may give rise to coercive pressures." Howes, 565 U.S. at 511. "[T]he person who is questioned may be pressured to speak by the hope that, after doing so, he will be allowed to leave and go home." Id. Thus, formal arrest or similar situations that are also inherently coercive require the protections of *Miranda*, but other situations, even ones where reasonable persons may not feel free to leave, see Berkemer, 468 U.S. at 435–40, do not, see Howes, 565 U.S. at 509.

This analysis ensures that custody will be found "only in those types of situations in which the concerns that powered [*Miranda*] are implicated." *Berkemer*, 468 U.S. at 437; *accord Roberts v. United States*, 445 U.S. 552, 560–61 (1980). *Miranda* was concerned with situations in which a person "[is] thrust into an unfamiliar atmosphere and run through menacing police interrogation procedures"; an "atmosphere [that] carries its own badge of intimidation" will runs an inherent risk the person's statements are not "truly the product of free choice." 384 U.S. at 456–58. "The purposes of the safeguards prescribed by *Miranda* are to ensure that the police do not coerce or trick captive suspects into confessing [and] to relieve the inherently compelling pressures generated by the custodial setting itself, which work to undermine the individual's will to resist." *Berkemer*, 468 U.S. at 433 (citations omitted); *see also State v. Hambly*, 2008 WI 10, ¶ 48, 307 Wis. 2d 98, 745 N.W.2d 48 ("the purpose of *Miranda*... is to prevent government officials from using the coercive nature of confinement to extract confessions that would not be given in an unrestrained environment" (citation omitted)). As such, the term "custody," for *Miranda* purposes, "is a term of art that specifies circumstances that are thought generally to present a serious danger of coercion." *Howes*, 565 U.S. at 508–09.

2. When determining whether a suspect was in custody, courts look objectively at the environment created by law enforcement, not the suspect. Because the "conditions of custody" for *Miranda* purposes are only "those caused or created by the authorities," *Clappes*, 117 Wis. 2d at 285; *see also Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, ¶ 25, it is ultimately the actions of law enforcement that create custody. It follows, then, that a suspect's incriminating statements cannot themselves render an interrogation custodial. For one thing, even if those statements lead the police to suspect the interrogee's guilt, an officer's suspicions "do not affect the objective circumstances of an interrogation or interview and thus cannot affect the *Miranda* custody inquiry" unless they "are communicated or otherwise manifested to the person

being questioned." Stansbury, 511 U.S. at 324. Indeed, "[t]he threat to a citizen's Fifth Amendment rights that Miranda was designed to neutralize has little to do with the strength of an interrogating officer's suspicions." Id. at 324–25 (citation omitted). "It was the compulsive aspect of custodial interrogation, and not the strength or content of the government's suspicions at the time the questioning was conducted, which led the [Supreme Court] to impose the Miranda requirements with regard to custodial questioning." Beckwith v. United States, 425 U.S. 341, 346–47 (1976) (citation omitted).

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